ELSEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews



© 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/addr

Although it is one of the major targeted organs by systemically administered siRNA, when compared to other

tissues the kidney receives only moderate interest regarding therapeutic siRNA delivery. Here we review

recent approaches to target renal protein expression under normal and pathological conditions.

Experimental evidence to support the clinical relevance of siRNA administration in the treatment of renal disease is discussed. High-throughput screening using recently available genome-wide RNA interference

libraries provides a new, powerful tool that can be applied to conventional and 3D in vitro culture models for

lead finding or the identification of signal pathway involvement in renal disease.

Application of siRNA in targeting protein expression in kidney disease $\stackrel{ ightarrow}{ ightarrow}$

Geurt Stokman^a, Yu Qin^a, Zsuzsanna Rácz^b, Peter Hamar^b, Leo S. Price^{a,*}

^a Department of Toxicology, Leiden Amsterdam Center for Drug Research, Leiden University, PO Box 9502, 2300 RA Leiden, The Netherlands ^b Institute of Pathophysiology, Semmelweis University, H-1089 Budapest Nagyvárad t.4, Hungary

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 29 April 2010 Accepted 15 July 2010 Available online 25 July 2010

Keywords: Renal Injury Screen High-throughput siRNA Therapy

Contents

1.	Introduction	1378								
2.	RNA interference (RNAi)	1379								
3.	Delivery of naked siRNA to the kidney	1379								
	3.1. Systemic administration	1379								
	3.2. Strategies for local delivery	1381								
4.	siRNA carriers	1381								
	4.1. Transfection reagents	1381								
	4.2. Chemical modification of siRNA	1382								
	4.3. Viral vector delivery shRNA	1383								
5.	siRNA therapy in disease	1384								
	5.1. Acute kidney injury	1384								
	5.2. Chronic renal diseases (renal fibrosis and autoimmune nephritis)	1385								
6.	Screening siRNA libraries for target identification <i>in vitro</i>	1385								
	6.1. Model selection	1385								
	6.2. Multi-parameter analysis of morphological changes	1385								
7.	Conclusions and future perspectives	1386								
Ack	xnowledgements	1387								
Refe	References									

1. Introduction

Since its discovery, disruption of gene transcription based on the mechanism of RNA interference (RNAi) [1] has witnessed a spectac-

ular increase in its use as an experimental tool in molecular and cell biological and *in vivo* research. RNAi is the mechanism whereby double stranded RNA leads to specific degradation of complementary mRNA sequences, inhibiting translation and subsequently leading to lower expression of the target protein. RNAi represents an important regulatory mechanism of gene transcription. Since the discovery of RNAi, several types of regulatory RNAs have been described, including short interfering RNA (siRNA) derived from longer sequences of double stranded RNA and microRNA (miRNA) (see more details in the review about miRNAs by Kaucsár et al.).

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: + 31 71 5274323; fax: + 31 71 5274277. *E-mail address:* lsprice@lacdr.leidenuniv.nl (L.S. Price).

⁰¹⁶⁹⁻⁴⁰⁹X/\$ – see front matter s 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2010.07.005

Due to considerable interest from the biotechnology industry, synthetic genome-wide siRNA libraries are now available to identify new targets in disease using functional genomic approaches [2,3]. Therapy using siRNA is being developed for various clinical conditions, including acute kidney injury (AKI) and kidney transplantation [www.clinicaltrials.gov], diabetic nephropathy [4] and primary glomerular diseases [5,6], but mainly focuses on the treatment of tumors and viral infections [7,8]. Despite this relative underrepresented position, renal injury may actually provide an excellent disease target for siRNA therapy as it can benefit from one of the major difficulties encountered in targeted delivery of siRNA: glomerular filtration. Systemic administration of siRNA can lead to a rapid uptake by the kidney yielding a significant decrease of target protein expression [9]. The use of RNAi therefore shows promise as an approach to treat renal disease [10].

Classical pharmacological approaches to treat renal disease rely on post-translation modification of cell signaling pathways by acting on protein interactions. The revolutionary aspect of siRNA therapy is that it acts on disease-associated signaling pathways by down regulating components of the pathway rather than influencing the activity of pathways. This means that siRNA treatment has the potential to prevent injury from occurring in addition to addressing existing injury. This review focuses on recent studies employing approaches for *in vivo* administration of non-vector delivered siRNA and its uptake by the kidney and examples of the use of viral vector short hairpin RNA (shRNA) delivery aimed at targeting renal protein expression in experimental animal models, for use in *in vitro* screens and also as a strategy to be used under conditions where long-term protein knockdown may be required such as during chronic kidney disease.

Studies that have successfully used RNAi to counteract renal injury in experimental animal models will be highlighted to demonstrate the strong clinical potential of siRNA-mediated therapy in renal disease and injury. We will discuss how *in vitro* siRNA screens can be used to discover and validate lead targets as well as predict their effect for use in *in vivo* models.

2. RNA interference (RNAi)

The molecular workings behind RNAi are becoming better understood. For the purpose of this review, it suffices to give a short introduction of the key players and to provide a broad explanation of the current view of the mechanism of action. Double-stranded RNA is cleaved by the ribonuclease Dicer into smaller fragments with a length of 21 to 23 nucleotides. The resulting siRNA fragments are then bound to the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). Argonaute 2, a protein component of RISC, unwinds and separates both siRNA strands. Activated RISC, containing the antisense strand (termed guide strand), will then engage in selective degradation of the mRNA that is complementary to the guide strand by cleavage of the mRNA target strand (reviewed in [10,11]). After cleavage of the mRNA, the activated RISC containing the siRNA derived guide strand can continue to degrade additional mRNA fragments. RNAi is a post-transcriptional gene-silencing mechanism: degradation of the target mRNA prevents protein synthesis without any permanent effect on the genome [12]. This effect has been shown to continue for several days up to several weeks, and is dependent on the rate of siRNA "dilution" due to cell proliferation [13,14].

Although pre-synthesized siRNA can be administered *in vivo*, initial studies found that their effect on protein expression was low due to nuclease degradation of the siRNA [15]. Vectors encoding self complementary mRNA strands are subjected to the same RNAi processing described previously and have also been exploited in *in vivo* studies. In short, transcription of plasmid DNA encoding both antisense and sense 21 nucleotide sequences of target RNA leads to formation of a short hairpin RNA (shRNA). This can be achieved by

designing the construct in a way that a non-coding loop sequence separates the sense and antisense sequence. After transcription, folding of the RNA and self-binding of the complementary 21 nucleotide sequences lead to formation of the shRNA. Cleavage of the loop domain by Dicer gives rise to a 'regular' siRNA fragment which may induce RNAi as described previously. In contrast, synthetic siRNAs do not require Dicer-mediated cleavage but are loaded onto the RISC immediately after delivery to cells. Introduction of siRNA to cells that were composed of 25–27 nucleotides were found to undergo Dicer processing and displayed higher silencing potency than 21 nucleotide siRNAs [16]. However, the administration of such Dicersubstrate siRNAs has not been studied with respect to renal targeting or silencing.

Off-target effects of siRNA have been described in a number of papers and manifest themselves by inducing an inflammatory response [17], activating anti-angiogenetic responses [18] or down regulation of non-target proteins [19]. These off-target effects are thought to rely on immune response activation due to recognition of double strand RNA by Toll-like receptors or RISC presentation of the 'wrong' siRNA strand as a guide strand, that is presentation of the supposedly non-coding sense strand leading to aspecific or unintentional effects of transcription of other proteins [20]), or the presence of a 'seed sequence' in the siRNA, which has complimentarity to transcripts of unintended genes. Furthermore, siRNA may induce an inflammatory interferon response or translational shut-down of the transfected cell [12]. A few important rules for siRNA designs have become apparent. These have been recently reviewed by Grimm et al. [21] and are applied to correct guide/passenger strand presentation by RISC, lowering immunogenicity and increasing target specificity over off-target effects by preventing recognition of non-target mRNA.

3. Delivery of naked siRNA to the kidney

A major concern when using siRNA techniques *in vivo* has been to achieve effective knockdown at target sites. Potential off-target effects or non-specific side-effects may skew experimental outcome or compromise therapeutic benefit. Although local delivery reduces knockdown effects in non-target tissue and reduces the amount of siRNA needed for treatment, systemic treatment remains the preferred approach due to difficulty achieving local targeting without invasive techniques. Interestingly, together with the liver and spleen, the kidney is the preferential site of non-specific siRNA targeting of most systemic administration routes. The accessibility of the kidney for siRNA is thought to be dependent on its role in clearance of circulating waste products followed by reabsorption in the nephron.

3.1. Systemic administration

Intravenous administration is one of the most often used ways to deliver exogenous nucleotides or nucleotide complexes into the renal interstitium. Hydrodynamic injection into the tail vein is an efficient and easy way of inoculating plasmid DNA, antisense oligonucleotides, small RNA molecules and vectors into parenchymal organs of the *vena cava* system in rodents [22]. In Table 1, important features of the studies referred to in this review are compiled.

Intravenous injection of siRNA has been used in a variety of studies and is reported to result in varying rates of renal targeting, depending on the use of transfection reagents. A single 150 μ l (100 μ g) dose of systemically administered siRNA specific for multidrug resistance protein isoform 2 (Mrp2) was rapidly distributed to the kidney and was sufficient to reduce Mrp2 activity of the proximal tubules 4 days after treatment. Administration of radiolabeled siRNA demonstrated a three-fold higher accumulation in the kidneys compared to administration of radiolabel only demonstrating a low but specific rate of renal siRNA accumulation [9]. To study the role of the protein Zag in a

Table 1

Studies on glomerular and tubular targeting by siRNA.

Study	Reference	Transfection method	RNAi	Modifications	Administration route	Distribution to kidney structure	siRNA dose or concentration	Volume	Comments
Glomerular targeting Hauser et al.	[47]	Antibody coupling	siRNA	-	IV tail vein	Glomerulus	2 µmol or 50 nM	Not specified	Dose differs per siRNA studied
Shimizu et al.	[6]	Nanocarrier	siRNA	-	IP	Glomerulus	5 nmol	500 µl	-
Takabatake et al., 2005	[33]	Electroporation, phosphate buffered saline	siRNA	2 phosphorothioates at 3' and 5' ends	Renal artery	Glomerulus	50 µg	Not specified	-
Takabatake et al., 2007	[5]	Electroporation, phosphate buffered saline	siRNA	siSTABLE™	Renal artery	Glomerulus	50 µg	Not specified	-
Takabatake et al., 2008	[141]	Electroporation, phosphate buffered saline	siRNA	-	Renal artery	-	50 µg	500 µl	Methods paper
Tubular targeting by siRNA Hamar et al.	[26]	Phosphate buffered saline	siRNA	2'-O-methylation	IV renal vein; hydrodynamic IV tail vein	Tubules	50 µg	100 μl; 1000 μl (respectively for administration routes)	-
Hocherl et al.	[28]	Phosphate buffered saline	siRNA	siSTABLE™	hydrodynamic IV tail vein	Not specified	5 mg/kg bodyweight	1000 µl	-
Larson et al.	[30]	DOTAP	siRNA	siSTABLE™	IV tail vein; hydrodynamic IV tail vein; IP; rectal	Dependent on administration route	20 µg	200 µl; 1000 µl; 200 µl; 100 µl (respectively for administration routes)	Comparative study
Luo et al.	[128]	Saline	siRNA	-	Caudal vein	Not specified	0.1 mg/kg bodyweight	2500 µl	-
Ma et al.	[27]	Phosphate buffered saline	siRNA	-	hydrodynamic IV tail vein	Tubules	50 µg	1000 µl + 300 µl flush	-
Molitoris et al.	[120]	Phosphate buffered saline	siRNA	Alternating 2'-O- methylation	IV	(Proximal) tubules	0.33-12 mg/ kg bodyweight	300 µl	both single and multiple injections were used to study cumulative effect of siRNA treatment
Mukai et al.	[31]	Saline + press- mediated	siRNA	-	IV	Not specified	0.2–20 µg	200 µl	Cotransfec-tion with reporter pDNA
Schmitt et al. Van de Water et al.	[23] [9]	Saline Suspension buffer	siRNA siRNA	-	Retro-orbital sinus IV tail vein	Not specified Not specified	50 µg 7 nmol	200 µl 150 µl	- Suspension buffer obtained from siRNA synthesis kit
Wesche-Soldato et al.	[38]	Saline	siRNA	-	hydrodynamic IV tail vein	Tubules	50 µg	1500-2000 µl	-
Xia et al.	[34]	Phosphate buffered saline	siRNA	-	Intrauretral	Tubules	50 µg	50 µl	-

Abbrevations: IP, intraperitoneal; IV, intravenous; NA, not applicable.

mouse model for ischemia-reperfusion injury, siRNA were diluted in saline and injected daily in a volume of $200 \,\mu$ l via the retro-orbital sinus for three to seven days, leading to renal protein knockdown [23]. The hydrodynamic delivery approach involves the intravenous administration of siRNA compounds in a relatively large volume of vehicle solution. For hydrodynamic delivery, in the original protocol an injection volume was used of 10% of the body weight of the experimental animal in a relatively short time (15–30 s), whereas a volume of 50–100 μ l is the generally accepted average for intravenous

injections in mouse tail veins. This sudden state of hypervolemia is likely to induce a severe, but transient capillary dysfunction, and may result in capillary 'leakage' leading to exposure of parenchymal tissue cells (in the case of the kidney the tubular epithelium) to the siRNA [24]. Hydrodynamic delivery was found to lead to liver damage in most cases [25]., This approach may provide two potential access points for the kidney, namely glomerular filtration resulting in availability of siRNA in the tubular lumen, as well as access from the peritubular interstitium: the basolateral side of the epithelial



Fig. 1. Renal targeting of siRNA following systemic and local administration (A) Hydrodynamic administration of 50 µg fluorescently labeled non-target siRNA (red) is taken up by the epithelial cells of the majority of tubules. (B) Fluorescently labeled non-target siRNA (red) target to the renal tubular epithelium after injection of siRNA-Lipofectamine complex into the renal vein of mice (Leica DMR microscope coupled to a Leica DC500 CCD, original magnification: 200×). (Rácz, Hamar, unpublished data).

monolayer. The hydrodynamic approach results in fast uptake of siRNA in the kidney, including cells of the tubular epithelium (Fig. 1a), and has been successfully used in a number of mouse studies. Hydrodynamic delivery of siRNA diluted in PBS in a volume of 1 ml, alternatively followed by a 'flush' 0.3 ml of PBS, led to significant target protein knockdown at 24–36 h after administration [26–28]. The feasibility of the hydrodynamic approach in a clinical setting however is very likely to be *nihil*. However, perfusion fluids containing siRNA of tissue grafts prior to transplantation may offer a possible use of this technique. A demonstration of this approach was shown recently in a mouse model for heart transplantation [29].

Comparative studies determining the efficiency of siRNA uptake and retention of different approaches of systemic administration in mice using fluorescent labeled siRNA have been performed. Although renal siRNA uptake did not give a detectable fluorescence signal 4 h after intraperitoneal and rectal administration, significant uptake was observed following hydrodynamic administration. This uptake was also higher than administration of the labeled siRNA in a smaller, conventional volume at the same time point. 24 h after hydrodynamic administration, kidney cells also showed improved retention of siRNA compared to standard (non-hydrodynamic) intravenous administration [30]. Both non-target and p85 α -specific siRNAs were used in this study. These studies are useful in evaluating siRNA targeting and retention by tissue. However target protein levels were not evaluated and there may be a disparity between cellular uptake and functional effect on protein expression. For example, degradation of siRNA can occur, which may result in uptake and retention of the fluorescent probe without achieving specific protein knockdown.

An approach which may rely on the same principal of volume overload, is the technique whereby siRNA is administered intravenously and directly followed by exercising physical pressure of the target organ. Applying pressure on the kidney may result in local capillary dysfunction, and thereby leads to improved, local siRNA uptake when compared to intravenous injection only [31,32]. This approach may only be applied in experimental models using smaller animals.

3.2. Strategies for local delivery

Intrarenal, local delivery to the kidney can be achieved by different routes such as via the renal artery targeting glomeruli [5,33], via the renal vein targeting the tubulointerstitium [26], via intrauretral administration into the renal pelvis [34] and theoretically by subcapsular administration for intraparenchymal silencing.

A combination with *in vivo* electroporation can enhance siRNA delivery. Electroporation enhanced intra-arterial administration of a transgenic construct in rats resulted in expression in mesengial cells [35]. Administration via the renal artery involves temporary occlusion of the artery itself and thus results in a mild ischemia. Ischemic preconditioning is known to decrease susceptibility to a second ischemic insult [36], which may affect experimental outcome if this approach is used in animal studies.

Intrapelvic injection results in heavy transgene expression within the outer medulla affecting the tubular epithelium, while the interstitial cells and vascular components of the inner medullary region show little or no expression. Furthermore, intraurethral administration of a DNA enzyme followed by electroporation of the kidney led to transgene expression in interstitial cells [37].

Subcapsular administration requires invasive techniques, puncture of the renal capsule and the underlying parenchyma and leads to a mild renal dysfunction (G. Stokman, unpublished observation). Part of the administered volume may be lost via the puncture hole after retraction of the needle. Therefore this approach may have limited practical use.

4. siRNA carriers

The depletion of target proteins by systemic administration of naked, unmodified siRNA is inefficient. For example, administration of siRNA targeted against GFP induced a moderate reduction in expression of renal GFP in GFP-transgenic mice [38]. This weak effect is probably due to neutralization of naked siRNA through degradation by exo- or endonucleases [15]. Spontaneous uptake of siRNA by cells without additional carrier is possible but is reportedly less efficient when compared to strategies employing transfection reagents that complex or encapsulate the siRNA. A large number of approaches have been tested to this respect [7,8]. Here we will specifically discuss the use of siRNA transfection reagents, chemical modification of siRNA and viral vectors encoding shRNAs in targeting *in vivo* protein expression in the kidney.

4.1. Transfection reagents

The administration of pre-synthesized siRNA using transfection reagents allows the use of pre-designed genome-wide libraries of siRNAs. Several studies have employed commercially available cationic lipid-based transfection reagents that encapsulate the siRNA fragments preventing nuclease degradation and enhance uptake by the tubular epithelium. Liposomes are a widely accepted means of delivering various biochemical agents. Cationic liposomebased transfection reagents have been successfully employed for *in vivo* siRNA delivery to the kidney, such as N-[1-(2,3-Dioleoyloxy) propyl]-N,N,N-trimethylammonium methylsulfate (DOTAP) [30,39].

The use of 1,2-dioleoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphatidylcholine (DOPC) leads to formation of neutral liposomes. Delivery of fluorochrome-labeled siRNA using DOPC-based liposomes was found to lead to effective uptake of siRNA by renal tubules, as well as by liver and lung. In this study, delivery using DOTAP also resulted in significant parenchymal uptake but was also more associated with uptake by endothelial cells [40]. Indeed, the uptake by endothelial cells in the kidney associated with DOTAP-mediated delivery may reduce effective protein knockdown in other compartments of the kidney such as the tubular epithelium [41].

Novel reagents have been developed specifically to enhance efficiency of siRNA delivery, such as Lipofectamine[™] RNAiMax (Invitrogen). To demonstrate its effect on renal targeting the Lipofectamine solution was diluted with physiologic saline to an end concentration of 20% as based on pilot study results. Diluted Lipofectamin[™] RNAiMax was complexed with siRNA. Renal vein injection of an end volume of 300 µl containing 50 µg (1 nM) fluorescently labeled siRNA (BlockiT[™] Alexa Fluor® Red Fluorescent control, Invitrogen) mixed according to the manufacturer's instructions induced a prominent siRNA uptake within renal tubular cells 20–30 min after delivery (Zs. Rácz and P. Hamar, unpublished results, see Fig. 1b).

Polyethylenimine (PEI), a watersoluble polycationic polymer, is another delivery vehicle for siRNA. PEI forms non-covalent bound complexes with siRNA, not only shielding siRNA from nuclease degradation but also facilitating endocytic uptake. Release from endosomal vesicles into the cytoplasm following cellular uptake is also enhanced following PEI-siRNA administration [42]. A recent study by Malek et al. [43] showed that PEI-siRNA complexes display lower renal targeting compared to naked siRNA. However, naked siRNA taken up in the kidney was mostly degraded, whereas renal accumulation of PEI-siRNA resulted in a significantly higher proportion of intact siRNA. In a further effort to enhance PEI-siRNA stability, the authors studied surface modifications of PEI using polyethyleneglycol (PEG). So-called PEGylation should reduce non-specific interactions of the PEI-siRNA complex [44], but was also found to reduce siRNA stability in renal tissue [43]. In addition, increased molecular weight and charge neutrality may make PEI carriers less compatible with glomerular filtration, which is thought to separate based on both particle charge and molecular size (<50 kDa). Liposomal and polymer-complexation delivery techniques are, dependent on endocytosis for cellular uptake. An important benefit of PEI complexation is that it can induce endosomal disruption, resulting in release of the siRNA into the cytoplasm. This disruptive property is thought to depend on extensive protonation of PEI leading to swelling and rupture of the endosomal compartment while avoiding increased acidity thereby reducing siRNA digestion [45].

One novel approach aims at glomerular protein knockdown using PEG-poly-L-lysine copolymer-based nanocarriers while avoiding sizeselective restraints of the glomerular filter. Shimizu et al. [6] report that these polyion complex (PIC) nanocarriers have enhanced delivery and retention in the kidney compared to naked siRNA following intraperitoneal administration, more specifically to cells of the glomerulus. When compared to siRNA delivery using a Hemaglutinating virus of Japan (HVJ) envelope vector, a so-called pseudovirion vehicle which is a viral vector lacking viral coding sequences, the siRNA-PIC nanocarrier complex proved superior with respect to glomerular targeting. Importantly, siRNA delivery using this nanocarrier approach specifically reduced glomerular target protein expression which indicates the suitability of this approach when considering glomerular targeting versus the tubular uptake of naked siRNA [6].

Cell-type specific delivery using antibody-mediated targeting offers an exciting approach to reduce non-target cell protein knockdown [46]. In their recent study in which they aimed at siRNA delivery to podocytes, Hauser et al. [47] made use of this strategy. After cleavage of the disulfide bridge, monovalent podocyte-specific sheep IgG antibody fragments were conjugated with neutravidin followed by labeling with biotinylated-protamine and finally complexed with siRNA. Complex formation is thought to depend on charge interactions between protamine and siRNA. In vivo analysis showed that the antibody predominantly bound podocytes but not tubular cells and did not trigger glomerular complement deposition which would result in glomerulosclerotic injury. This approach yielded specific target protein knockdown in podocytes and induced a specific phenotype associated with this knockdown. In addition, podocytes may be more relevant target cells using antibody-mediated endocytosis as they employ a mechanism for removal of bound IgG from the basement membrane whereas the tubular epithelium does not [47,48]. Beside podocyte targeting, the antibody was also detected in the spleen, but not in lung, liver, muscle or colon tissue [47].

Alternatives to protamine-siRNA complexation based on electrostatic interactions have been developed and include 3'-biotinylated siRNA binding to streptavidin-conjugated antibodies [49], monovalent antibody fragments labeling of PEGylated liposomes containing siRNA-carrier complexes [50,51] and antibody-conjugation to cationic lipid-siRNA complexes [52]. However, these strategies have not yet been examined for their potential in renal targeting.

Interesting new approaches however are those whereby siRNA is delivered in biodegradable hydrogels resulting in prolonged *in situ* release [53]. Such degradable polymer gels have been studied for their capacity to provide extended release of plasmid DNA in tissues, but may equally be used as a carrier system for siRNA delivery [54]. Although not studied in the context of siRNA, this approach may hold promise to result in long-term targeting of the kidney when applied subcapsular, and thereby allowing effective protein knockdown for longer periods of time.

Several approaches have been developed to assist uptake by the tubular epithelium, augmenting or bypassing active uptake. Although micro-injection into the cell has been suggested, the clear practical disadvantages for its use in the kidney do not need to be argued. Electroporation is a standard procedure to induce transient transduction of cells *in vitro*. For *in vivo* applications, electroporation has been used for delivery of siRNA to skin and muscle [55,56]. Some studies report the successful use of electroporation of siRNA delivery to renal tissue. In rats, injection of siRNA into the renal artery followed by electroporation led to predominant knockdown of the target protein in the glomeruli, more specifically according to the authors in the mesangial cells [5,33]. However, electroporation itself can induce cell stress signaling [57]. Thus, a feasible alternative could be sonoporation in order to enhance pore-opening and siRNA uptake similar to electroporation [58].

A relatively new approach is ultrasound enhanced nucleotide transfer. Liposomal carriers designed to carry ultrasound imaging gas were studied for their usefulness in *in vivo* siRNA delivery during exposure to ultrasound waves. Although this approach proved successful for siRNA delivery to the skin, delivery to the kidney was not effective [59]. Further optimization of this technique may enhance the capacity to deliver siRNA to the kidney, yet the specialist aspects of the technique may limit its widespread practical use. Both approaches do require exposure of the kidney and thus surgery, although the clear advantage is the passive uptake of siRNA and its direct presence in the cytosol.

4.2. Chemical modification of siRNA

The administration of naked siRNA is certainly feasible, but is subjected to conditions that destabilize the siRNA as unmodified phosphodiester linkages are very sensitive to serum and cellular nucleases. Chemical modification of siRNA can enhance the stability of the siRNA in the circulation and improve renal targeting. A number of approaches have been developed to this end and many strategies that apply to antisense oligonucleotide (ASO) stabilization or nucleotide analogue alternatives can be considered for use in siRNA approaches (see also recent reviews by Shukla et al. [60] and Ge et al. [61]).

Due to the sensitivity of unmodified phosphodiester linkages to serum and cellular nucleases, chemical modifications of phosphodiester linkages of ASOs may improve stability. Phosphodiester molecules with phosphorothioate or methylphosphonate blocked ends are protected from degradation by exonucleases [62]. A phosphorothioate linkage is formed by replacement of a nonbridging oxygen in the backbone with a sulphur atom, resulting in a prolonged half-life (Fig. 2, center). Phosphorothioate stabilization of the oligonucleotide backbone has previously been used to increase biostability of antisense oligonucleotide fragments [63]. Antisense phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides (PS-ODNs) are widely applied and have been tested in a variety of in vitro and in vivo systems [64]. In addition, PS-ODNs demonstrated broad distribution and low toxicity after systemic delivery in mice, rats and monkeys [65] although high dose phosphorothioates have been implicated in renal toxicity [66] possibly due to aspecific membrane protein binding [67]. Introduction of phosphorothioate containing linkages at the 3'-end of the siRNA strands has also been shown to reduce nuclease-mediated degradation with minimal cytotoxicity [60]. Previous studies revealed that PS-ODNs primarily accumulate in the liver (Kupffer and endothelial cells), spleen (red pulp), skin (dendritic cells, fibroblasts), kidney (proximal tubules) and bone marrow [68,69]. Thus, this strategy of chemical modification to improve nucleotide half-life may be applied in RNAi as well.

Complexing PS-ODNs with cationic lipids is commonly applied to facilitate uptake in cell cultures, but it is not suitable in all *in vivo* conditions [70]. Although complexing oligonucleotides with cholesteryl increases plasma half-life [71], and improves accumulation in some organs, only a small fraction accumulates in the kidney and our observations showed that *in vivo* silencing efficiency in mouse kidneys is diminished with this approach (P. Hamar, unpublished findings).

The tubular epithelium expresses several Toll-like receptors (TLR) types including TLR3 but not TLR7 [72], which bind single or double strand RNA molecules and function to signal the possibility of viral infection [73]. These may underlie the activation of the innate immune response pathways by siRNA [74]. 2'-O ribose methylation of siRNA reduces not only TLR mediated activation of the immune system [75,76] but also endonuclease degradation. Combined phosphorothioate and 2'-O methylation modification of siRNA was found to have increased nuclease resistance compared to single modifications [77].

Fig. 2. Enhanced biostability by chemical modification of oligonucleotides. (left) Phosphodiester DNA, (center) phopsphorotioate modification and (right) morpholino nucleotide structure.

Administration of PS-ODNs can result in immune responses after i.v. administration and is characterized by direct immune cell activation. Immune stimulation could be markedly reduced by 5-methyl cytosine or 2'-methoxyethyl modifications, without significant alterations in organ targeting [78].

Immunogenic reactions may also be reduced by PEG complexing. PEG is nontoxic and soluble. PEG conjugated ODNs have longer half-life, higher stability against exonucleases and PEG increased cellular uptake. PEG coupling to an ASO induced more than 10-fold increase in exonuclease stability and prolongation of plasma half-life [79], but did not affect the ability of ODN hybridization [80]. Furthermore, the cellular uptake of ODNs can also benefit from PEGylation [81]. PEGylation shields the negative charge of the ODN, making the molecule more hydrophobic, thereby facilitating cellular uptake of the conjugated drug. Additionally, PEGylation could potentially diminish the immunostimulatory effects of the ODNs [82,83]. PEGylated ODNs can be combined with positively charged lipids, forming micelles with ODNs. Such micelles could significantly improve the stability of ODNs against serum nucleases [84]. Furthermore, different targeting ligands such as folic acids can be attached at the distal terminus of PEG to achieve receptor-mediated targeted delivery of ODNs [85]. However, as discussed previously, PEGylation can reduce targeting of siRNA to the tubular epithelium and may possibly lead to increased uptake by glomerular cells.

Locked nucleic acids (LNAs) are a class of nucleic acid analogues, with strong RNA binding ability [86]. The bicyclic furanose ring in the sugar phosphate backbone is locked in an RNA mimicking conformation by the introduction of a 2'-O,4'-C methylene (2'-OM) bridge. LNAs are easy to synthesize, have good aqueous solubility and can be combined with different linkages such as to DNA, RNA, phosphorothioates or phosphodiesters. Similar to the 2'-OM oligonucleotide approach, LNA containing antisense oligonucleotides form highly stable duplexes with high specificity for complementary RNAs [87]. A few pioneering studies using LNA modified siRNA show that systemic administration of naked LNA-siRNA is feasible, has improved resistance to serum degradation and leads to effective decrease in target protein expression [88,89]. A single dose of tritium-labeled LNA-siRNA in mice (0.15 mg/kg) resulted in high renal scintillation count, suggesting that LNA-siRNA localized in the kidney after administration [89].

Morpholino oligonucleotides (MOs) are nonionic DNA analogs (Fig. 2, right) with backbones resistant to nuclease digestion. MOs were first delivered into the cytoplasm of cells by Summerton and colleagues in 1996 [90]. A significant advantage of MOs is that RNA-MO hybrids are not substrates for RNase H. MOs targeted against the 5'-untranslated region (UTR) or the start codon prevent the translation machinery from binding [91]. Anti-GFP MOs injected into GFP expressing zebrafish embryos blocked GFP expression with unchanged mRNA level [92]. MOs can block microRNA maturation at the step of Drosha or Dicer cleavage, and they can inhibit the activity of the mature microRNA, *in vitro* and *in vivo* [93,94]. Modification of siRNA by 3' end MO substitution improves construct stability and has prolonged activity at lower dosage concentrations compared to unmodified siRNA [95]. Both LNA and MO-modifications to siRNA may improve *in vivo* stability with lower off-target effects [96].

Commercially available, chemically modified siRNA (siSTABLE[™]) has been used in studies targeting the kidney [28,30]. The exonuclease enhanced RNAi-1 (ERI-1) preferentially cleaves siRNAs. ERI-1 mutant *C. elegans* worms have enhanced RNAi responses, indicating that siRNAs are more stable in ERI-1 mutants [97]. ERI-1 is highly expressed in kidney tissue and may underlie the lower effectiveness of non-stabilized siRNA; siSTABLE siRNA was found to be resistant to ERI-1 degradation and significantly prolonged the siRNA response [5].

4.3. Viral vector delivery shRNA

An alternative to siRNA administration is the delivery of vectors containing expression cassettes coding for shRNA precursors. This



approach has successfully been used in the kidney employing plasmid DNA (pDNA) vectors [33]. Transfection of tissue using pDNA vectors is similarly subject to delivery obstacles as discussed previously for siRNA. In addition, pDNA vectors are also required to enter the nucleus in order for transcription to occur.

Compared to siRNA, pDNA vector transfection is also transient (although the duration of active RNAi may vary between both approaches) but design of the shRNA coding sequence, choice of vector and promoter sequence as well as optimization of mode of delivery may be laborious and time-consuming compared with the relative ease of siRNA synthesis and treatment. Nevertheless, longterm or stable expression of shRNA may be required. Strategies employed for use in gene therapy can be readily adapted for use in RNAi. Depending on the type of vector used, viral vectors may have advantages over pDNA vectors that include stable genomic integration of the shRNA expression cassette and more efficient, endocytosisindependent transfection. For strategies employing pDNA containing shRNA coding sequences the reader is referred to the review by Takahashi et al. [98]. Targeting of the kidney using viral vectors for shRNA delivery has not been used extensively, but studies that describe transgene delivery to the kidney using viral vectors rely on the same principle. Here we will focus on the possible use of viral vector delivery for in vitro screening and provide a few examples for its in vivo use in experimental animal models.

Intraparenchymal delivery of replication-deficient adenovirus in rats led to prominent transgene expression in tubules and glomeruli located in the renal cortex [99], whereas injection specifically aimed at the medullary interstitium of the kidney favored expression by tubular epithelium located in the outer medulla [100]. Adenoviral vectors have been reported to induce side-effects that severely limit their potential use for shRNA delivery in kidney disease as they are found to be immunogenic [101]. As these vectors are easily produced, their use for in vitro screening assays may currently be of more interest. Culture techniques in which cells are maintained in gel-like protein scaffolds of extracellular matrix components have been used to mimic the in vivo environment in an in vitro cell assay. Kidney cell lines, such as the Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) or renal carcinoma RCC10 cell line, readily form polarized structures under these culture conditions that can be regarded as proto-tubular structures. These so-called 3D cell culture assays can be used to study processes such as cell polarization, lumen formation, and branching morphogenesis. In vitro screens using 3D culture technigues are incompatible with current transfection approaches for siRNA or pDNA shRNA delivery. Adenoviral vector delivery has successfully been used to circumvent this issue and genome-wide adenoviral shRNA libraries are commercially available.

Adeno-associated virus (AAV) vectors have successfully been used to deliver shRNA constructs in vivo to various tissues (reviewed in [102]). Adenoviral vectors differ from AAV vectors in life cycle, the longevity of transgene expression [103], activation of the immune system [104] and in tissue specificity [105,106]. In mice, intraparenchymal delivery of recombinant AAV induced transgene expression by epithelium of the tubules that were located near the injection site, but not by endothelial or glomerular cells [107]. Intrapelvic delivery of AAV in mice has also been demonstrated to be effective, inducing transgene expression mainly in the medullary area of the kidney. Following urethral ligation, transgene expression seemed to be increased compared to non-ligated animals. Interestingly, expression of the transgene was detectable at 7 days after AAV administration in control mice but already after 4 days in kidneys of mice with urethral ligation [108]. Retargeting of AAV to modify tropism characteristics can be performed by pseudotyping. AAV-2 delivery of shRNA specific for the mineralocorticoid receptor induced significant down regulation of the receptor up to three weeks after infection and was found to prevent loss of renal function in a rat model for hypertension-induced kidney injury [109].

Lentiviral vectors have the capability to stably transfect a wide variety of dividing and non-dividing cells by genomic integration. Retrograde urethral infusion of VSV-G pseudotyped lentivirus successfully delivered the gene coding for enhanced GFP to tubular epithelial cells in mice [110]. Intraparenchymal delivery of lentivirus particularly induced transgene expression in the cortical and corticomedullary area of the kidney with lower expression in the medullary part [111]. In a rat model for renal transplantation, perfusion of the donor kidney with lentivirus harboring a construct for SHARP-2 shRNA induced significant gene silencing [112]. From a safety perspective, the use of lentiviral vectors may lead to unwanted insertion of the construct in vital gene regions. These issues are reviewed by Manjunath et al. [113].

5. siRNA therapy in disease

5.1. Acute kidney injury

In ischemic or toxic acute kidney injury (AKI) cell stress pathways are activated in the tubular epithelium which may lead to expression of pro-inflammatory factors or induction of apoptosis. Renal tissue injury is often exacerbated by infiltrating immune cells that damage renal tissue by production of reactive oxygen species such as neutrophil-derived myeloperoxidase [114] or by mediating Fas/Fas ligand (FasL) interactions leading to renal cell death *via* apoptosis [115]. Therefore, potential targets of siRNA-mediated down regulation of transcription include protein stress mediators, proteins regulating the epithelial inflammatory response or proteins involved in the cellular apoptosis machinery.

Nuclear translocation of the NF-kB complex is a prerequisite for expression of pro-inflammatory factors by cells of the tubular epithelium and immune cell infiltration during AKI [116,117]. Sepsis-induced AKI in mice was found to result in increased expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IL-1 β . This could be counteracted by administration of siRNA specific for p105, a precursor subunit of the NF-kB complex [28].

Complement activation during ischemia-reperfusion injury is an important activator of the innate immune response. Release of the complement factor C5a and binding to its receptor C5aR expressed by the tubular epithelium induces expression and secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, mediating influx of neutrophils [118]. By hydrodynamic tail vein injection of shRNA to C5aR the inflammatory response following ischemia could be decreased and renal function preserved [119].

In a rat model, targeting expression of p53, a master switch of apoptosis, intravenous administration of specific siRNA was shown to significantly reduce renal dysfunction and tissue injury following renal ischemia and cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity [120]. In this study, the differential effect of profylactic versus therapeutic (that is, after induction of injury) administration and the effect of multiple siRNA administrations was also studied. The cumulative effect of multiple low doses of siRNA on renal function following ischemia was established. In addition, protection of renal function could be achieved when siRNA was administered in a single dose and was found to be effective only when administered between 16 h prior to ischemia up to 8 h following ischemia with optimal effects when given at 2 or 4 h after ischemia.

Infiltration of CD8 expressing cytotoxic T cells (CTL) into donor tissue following renal transplantation can lead to Fas/Fasl induced induction of apoptosis. In one of the first reports studying RNAi approaches for its potential in renal medicine, siRNA mediating epithelial Fas knockdown by hydrodynamic tail vein and local renal vein injection significantly reduced renal failure and apoptosis of the tubular epithelium following ischemia in an animal model mimicking transplantation associated injury [26]. Later, inhibition of complement-3 (C3) and caspase 3 by siRNA, alone [121] or in combination [122], has been demonstrated to reduce renal reperfusion injury in mice. In addition, shRNA targeting expression of caspase 8 also protected against renal failure and apoptosis following renal ischemia [123]. Modulation of caspase-mediated apoptosis using siRNA treatment therefore seems a relevant approach to reduce transplantation-related renal injury.

These studies clearly demonstrate the therapeutic potential of siRNA-mediated inhibition of transcription of key proteins involved in cell stress and injury pathways that are activated during AKI and that are responsible for renal injury. Indeed, clinical trials using siRNA targeted against p53 during AKI are currently being conducted [7]. Transplant perfusion solutions supplemented with target-specific siRNA can be utilized to induce *ex vivo* delivery to renal tissue prior to reperfusion. Organ preservation solutions containing siRNAs targeting TNF- α , the complement component C3 and Fas translation, resulted in significantly lower tissue injury and leukocyte infiltration in a mouse model for heart transplantation. Heart function was also improved in treated grafts compared to controls [29]. In a similar fashion, we propose that transplant perfusion solutions supplemented with target-specific siRNA may be utilized to induce *ex vivo* delivery to renal tissue prior to renal tissue prior to reperfusion.

5.2. Chronic renal diseases (renal fibrosis and autoimmune nephritis)

Fibrosis of the tubulointersitial compartment is a complication of most chronic kidney diseases, such as glomerulosclerosis and diabetic nephropathy, preceding end-stage renal disease [124] and a significant contributing factor to chronic allograft dysfunction [125]. Transforming growth factor- $\beta 1$ (TGF- $\beta 1$) is considered the central player in initiation and progression of tubulointerstitial fibrosis [124]. Knockdown of TGF-β1 using pDNA expressing TGF-β1 shRNA was sufficient to reduce interstitial fibrosis during unilateral ureter obstruction [126]. Down regulation of the TGF- β receptor type II using shRNA expression gave similar results [127]. Targeting of connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), an important pro-fibrotic cofactor downstream from TGF-B, using caudal vein administered siRNA for 14 days was found to decrease renal fibrosis in an experimental kidney transplantation model using rats [128]. The anti-Thy-1 experimental model is used to study progressive glomerulosclerosis in rats. Using electroporation to enhance uptake of siRNA targeted to TGF-B1, a significant reduction in both glomerular matrix deposition and proteinuria was detected at 4 and 6 weeks following anti-Thy-1 administration [5]. MRL/lpr mice are susceptible to spontaneous development of systemic lupus erythematosus-like renal disease that is associated with autoantibody production [129] and complement activation [130] resulting in glomerulosclerosis. Modulation of glomerular expression of mitogen-activated protein kinase 1 (MAPK1) using PIC nanocarriers containing MAPK1-specific siRNA could reduce the severity of glomerular injury and reduce expression of genes associated with fibrotic disease, including TGF-β1, fibronectin and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 [6]. PIC nanocarriers were administered intraperitoneally twice per week for a duration of five weeks. In contrast to treatment of acute kidney injury, repeated administration of siRNA will be necessary to achieve a therapeutic effect in chronic conditions like renal fibrosis [128]. Nonetheless, these studies demonstrate that pathways leading to renal fibrosis are susceptible to siRNA treatment.

6. Screening siRNA libraries for target identification in vitro

Genome-wide or pathway-specific siRNA libraries have become available for use in high-throughput lead finding screening approaches. Using *in vitro* pre-screening, establishment of *in vitro* target leads can be used to predict signal pathway involvement in renal disease or injury *in vivo*, pathway interaction analysis *in silico*, and *in vivo* target validation. The combination of siRNA knockdown screens with image analysis of cellular responses has been used to provide key insight into complex signaling pathway interactions. For example, using protein kinase, lipid kinase and phosphatase-specific siRNA libraries, Winograd-Katz et al. [131] integrated high-content image analysis and siRNA knockdown screening to study disruption of cell adhesion complexes and cell morphology to identify pathways involvement in the formation of cellular adhesions. Similarly, highcontent siRNA screens have been performed to establish candidate kinases that mediate phosphorylation of tau protein with respect to development of Alzheimer's disease [132] or kinases and phosphatases involved in regulation of cell proliferation by the mTOR pathway [133].

Optimization and configuration of automated sampling handling, imaging equipment, data management and data analysis are among the obstacles encountered that generally fall outside the field of expertise for most biologists, but which need careful consideration and attention [134]. Here we will highlight features regarding experimental design such as selection of an appropriate model and read-out parameter.

6.1. Model selection

Efforts to study renal disease using *in vitro* models have produced a vast array of established approaches that incorporate one or more relevant characteristics of the pathology. It is essential to minimize experimental handling steps while maintaining features that allow extrapolation to an *in vivo* situation. This means that existing models may need to be stripped down and limited to single or twin read-out parameters only.

Screening for protein involvement in regulation of apoptosis such as following toxicant-induced nephrotoxicity can be measured by determining caspase activity, annexin-V surface display or cell viability, all of which are compatible with high-throughput screening approaches. Recent developments aim at the detection of apoptosis by automated live-cell imaging screening approaches for example using caspase activation of fluorogenic substrates [135] or annexin-V binding [136].

To determine protein involvement in cytokine-induced fibrogenesis for example following TGF- β 1 stimulation, luciferase- or GFPreporter assays that are activated upon marker protein expression such as α -smooth muscle actin may be used [137]. Changes in expression can be quantitatively measured using changes in luminescence or fluorescence intensity. Alternatively, spectrophotometric detection of picrosirius red, more commonly used for histochemical staining of collagen, has been used to determine matrix deposition in a screening study to establish anti-fibrotic properties of compounds [138].

6.2. Multi-parameter analysis of morphological changes

Most in vitro cell assays make use of monolayer cell cultures. A three dimensional environment that simulates the physical and chemical properties of native tissues is required for the development of normal cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions, differentiation and functional characteristics. Branching morphogenesis or tubulogenesis, where tubules form from cysts of polarized epithelial cells, also requires a 3D culture environment for in vitro modeling and depends on functional cell-matrix interactions to perform cell polarization, lumen formation and tissue invasion [139,140]. These 3D cultures are also amenable to RNAi screening, but where extended periods of culture are required for formation of more complex tissue structures, viral transduction with shRNA may be more appropriate than knockdown mediated by naked siRNA. Various functional read-outs can be determined from fluorescent or luciferase reporters although labeling - particularly immunolabeling - can be more challenging. Analysis of 3D morphology requires confocal microscopy or



shRNA FosB

shRNA MMP9

Fig. 3. Effect of shRNA mediated protein knockdown on branching morphology. RCC10 kidney carcinoma cells were cultured in a 3D extracellular matrix protein gel in the presence of adenoviruses encoding the indicated shRNAs (provided by Galapagos NV, The Netherlands). In the presence of control knockdown viruses (against non-expressed proteins GFP and luciferase) tumour cells form invasive multicellular structures. To visualize cellular structures the actin cytoskeleton was stained. Automated image analysis detected structures are outlined in red. Invasion is inhibited by knockdown of genes which are essential for tumour cell invasion, such as the FosB transcription factor and the metalloprotease MMP9 (L. Price, B van de Water and Galapagos NV, manuscript in preparation).

deconvolution of wide-field images to construct flat images of 3D objects. Image analysis software can extract multiple parameters from relatively complex cell structures, giving read-outs on proliferation and morphological characteristics, such as extent of branching. An example of this approach is given in Fig. 3. RCC10 cells spontaneously form a network of tubule-like branches when grown under the appropriate 3D culture conditions. Adenoviral delivery of shRNA specific for luciferase and GFP (both not expressed by this cell line) did not alter the branching morphology of the cells. In contrast, shRNA to FosB and matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP9) reduced branching (L Price, B van de Water and Galapagos NV, manuscript in preparation). Automated image analysis of the resulting structures provides information on branch formation, extension and number of objects. These data reveal clues on the functional significance of the target protein or pathway that is involved. By this approach, predictions on in vivo signaling pathway involvement can be made in the context of renal fibrosis, nephrotoxicity or tissue regeneration responses, from which lead selection can be established for further investigation.

7. Conclusions and future perspectives

The kidney is an organ that is comparatively easily targeted by siRNA. Research into targeting of other tissues, such as brain, muscle or tumor cells, focuses on enhancement of specific uptake by that tissue by preventing renal filtration. Tubular targeting does not seem to benefit from changes made to delivery vehicles such as PEGylation. However, it is likely that enhanced stabilization, low immunogenicity and resistance to nuclease degradation prove highly useful for therapeutic applications of siRNA in renal injury. Recent studies demonstrate that both tubular epithelium and especially cells from the glomerulus can be preferentially targeted. Targeting of the tubular epithelium appears to occur when siRNA with minor or no structural modifications, combined with an appropriate transfection reagent, are administered systemically and are delivered to the target cells via renal filtration. Glomerular targeting requires additional modification of siRNA carriers to either prevent filtration, improve siRNA uptake (for example by electroporation), or by using antibody-mediated targeting of siRNA carriers to glomerular-specific epitopes.

A few issues remain relatively unanswered at the moment. Current approaches to use siRNA in experimental renal injury models have mainly focused on prophylactic aspects; prevention of target protein expression by administration prior to induction of injury. However, it is unclear how established renal injury will affect the efficiency of siRNA uptake and reduction of protein translation. Indeed, the therapeutic benefit of post-injury siRNA administration may be effective within a certain time range only [120]. For example, renal injury may impair endocytotic uptake whereas epithelial depolarization may reduce specific uptake in strategies aimed at receptormediated internalization of vehicles or carriers. Nevertheless, several experimental studies demonstrate that siRNA-mediated therapy offers high potential to treat renal disease. When comparing pharmacological treatment to siRNA therapy, an important benefit is the extended mode of action of siRNA that has been found to be present for up to several days following siRNA administration.

One of the major advantages of siRNA therapy is its high target specificity. It is possible to reduce expression of cell-type specific mediators of injury or disease thereby blocking activation of downstream signaling pathways. This presents researchers with a new challenge; identification of key players in renal injury that are preferentially cell-type specific, crucial injury mediators and amendable to siRNA knockdown. Screening of siRNA or shRNA libraries in (patho)physiologically relevant cell models will help identify new candidates and predict their *in vivo* function.

Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Erik Danen, Dr. Mark C. Dessing and Dr. Roos Masereeuw for critically reading our manuscript.

G.S. is supported by a grant from the Dutch Kidney Foundation (Nierstichting).

L.S.P. is supported by grants from the Netherlands Toxiconomics Center (NTC) of the Netherlands Genomics Initiative (NGI) and the European Union (PROLIGEN, FP6).

References

- A. Fire, S. Xu, M.K. Montgomery, S.A. Kostas, S.E. Driver, C.C. Mello, Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in *Caenorhabditis elegans*, Nature 391 (1998) 806–811.
- [2] K.J. Simpson, L.M. Selfors, J. Bui, A. Reynolds, D. Leake, A. Khvorova, J.S. Brugge, Identification of genes that regulate epithelial cell migration using an siRNA screening approach, Nat Cell Biol 10 (2008) 1027–1038.
- [3] J. Hitomi, D.E. Christofferson, A. Ng, J. Yao, A. Degterev, R.J. Xavier, J. Yuan, Identification of a molecular signaling network that regulates a cellular necrotic cell death pathway, Cell 135 (2008) 1311–1323.
- [4] P. Xie, L. Sun, P.J. Oates, S.K. Srivastava, Y.S. Kanwar, Pathobiology of renal specific oxidoreductase/myo-inositol oxygenase in diabetic nephropathy: its implications in tubulo-interstitial fibrosis, Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 298 (2010) F1393–F1404.
- [5] Y. Takabatake, Y. Isaka, M. Mizui, H. Kawachi, S. Takahara, E. Imai, Chemically modified siRNA prolonged RNA interference in renal disease, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 363 (2007) 432–437.
- [6] H. Shimizu, Y. Hori, S. Kaname, K. Yamada, N. Nishiyama, S. Matsumoto, K. Miyata, M. Oba, A. Yamada, K. Kataoka, T. Fujita, siRNA-based therapy ameliorates glomerulonephritis, J Am Soc Nephrol 21 (2010) 622–633.
- [7] S. Akhtar, I.F. Benter, Nonviral delivery of synthetic siRNAs in vivo, J Clin Invest 117 (2007) 3623–3632.
- [8] K.A. Whitehead, R. Langer, D.G. Anderson, Knocking down barriers: advances in siRNA delivery, Nat Rev Drug Discov 8 (2009) 129–138.
- [9] F.M. van de Water, O.C. Boerman, A.C. Wouterse, J.G. Peters, F.G. Russel, R. Masereeuw, Intravenously administered short interfering RNA accumulates in the kidney and selectively suppresses gene function in renal proximal tubules, Drug Metab Dispos 34 (2006) 1393–1397.
- [10] Z. Racz, P. Hamar, RNA interference in research and therapy of renal diseases, Contrib Nephrol 159 (2008) 78–95.
- [11] H. Siomi, M.C. Siomi, On the road to reading the RNA-interference code, Nature 457 (2009) 396–404.
- [12] Z. Racz, P. Hamar, Can siRNA technology provide the tools for gene therapy of the future? Curr Med Chem 13 (2006) 2299–2307.
- [13] D.W. Bartlett, M.E. Davis, Insights into the kinetics of siRNA-mediated gene silencing from live-cell and live-animal bioluminescent imaging, Nucleic Acids Res 34 (2006) 322–333.
- [14] A. Maliyekkel, B.M. Davis, I.B. Roninson, Cell cycle arrest drastically extends the duration of gene silencing after transient expression of short hairpin RNA, Cell Cycle 5 (2006) 2390–2395.
- [15] J.M. Layzer, A.P. McCaffrey, A.K. Tanner, Z. Huang, M.A. Kay, B.A. Sullenger, In vivo activity of nuclease-resistant siRNAs, RNA 10 (2004) 766–771.
- [16] D.H. Kim, M.A. Behlke, S.D. Rose, M.S. Chang, S. Choi, J.J. Rossi, Synthetic dsRNA Dicer substrates enhance RNAi potency and efficacy, Nat Biotechnol 23 (2005) 222–226.
- [17] C.A. Sledz, M. Holko, M.J. de Veer, R.H. Silverman, B.R. Williams, Activation of the interferon system by short-interfering RNAs, Nat Cell Biol 5 (2003) 834–839.
- [18] M.E. Kleinman, K. Yamada, A. Takeda, V. Chandrasekaran, M. Nozaki, J.Z. Baffi, R.J. Albuquerque, S. Yamasaki, M. Itaya, Y. Pan, B. Appukuttan, D. Gibbs, Z. Yang, K. Kariko, B.K. Ambati, T.A. Wilgus, L.A. DiPietro, E. Sakurai, K. Zhang, J.R. Smith, E. W. Taylor, J. Ambati, Sequence- and target-independent angiogenesis suppression by siRNA via TLR3, Nature 452 (2008) 591–597.
- [19] P.C. Scacheri, O. Rozenblatt-Rosen, N.J. Caplen, T.G. Wolfsberg, L. Umayam, J.C. Lee, C.M. Hughes, K.S. Shanmugam, A. Bhattacharjee, M. Meyerson, F.S. Collins, Short interfering RNAs can induce unexpected and divergent changes in the levels of untargeted proteins in mammalian cells, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101 (2004) 1892–1897.
- [20] P.Y. Chen, L. Weinmann, D. Gaidatzis, Y. Pei, M. Zavolan, T. Tuschl, G. Meister, Strand-specific 5'-O-methylation of siRNA duplexes controls guide strand selection and targeting specificity, RNA 14 (2008) 263–274.
- [21] D. Grimm, Small silencing RNAs: state-of-the-art, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 61 (2009) 672-703.

- [22] N. Kobayashi, T. Kuramoto, K. Yamaoka, M. Hashida, Y. Takakura, Hepatic uptake and gene expression mechanisms following intravenous administration of plasmid DNA by conventional and hydrodynamics-based procedures, J Pharmacol Exp Ther 297 (2001) 853–860.
- [23] R. Schmitt, A. Marlier, L.G. Cantley, Zag expression during aging suppresses proliferation after kidney injury, J Am Soc Nephrol 19 (2008) 2375–2383.
- [24] D.L. Lewis, J.A. Wolff, Systemic siRNA delivery via hydrodynamic intravascular injection, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 59 (2007) 115–123.
- [25] V.G. Budker, V.M. Subbotin, T. Budker, M.G. Sebestyen, G. Zhang, J.A. Wolff, Mechanism of plasmid delivery by hydrodynamic tail vein injection. II. Morphological studies, J Gene Med 8 (2006) 874–888.
- [26] P. Hamar, E. Song, G. Kokeny, A. Chen, N. Ouyang, J. Lieberman, Small interfering RNA targeting Fas protects mice against renal ischemia-reperfusion injury, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101 (2004) 14883–14888.
- [27] D. Ma, T. Lim, J. Xu, H. Tang, Y. Wan, H. Zhao, M. Hossain, P.H. Maxwell, M. Maze, Xenon preconditioning protects against renal ischemic-reperfusion injury via HIF-1alpha activation, J Am Soc Nephrol 20 (2009) 713–720.
- [28] K. Hocherl, C. Schmidt, B. Kurt, M. Bucher, Inhibition of NF-kappaB ameliorates sepsis-induced downregulation of aquaporin-2/V2 receptor expression and acute renal failure in vivo, Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 298 (2010) F196–F204.
- [29] X. Zheng, D. Lian, A. Wong, M. Bygrave, T.E. Ichim, M. Khoshniat, X. Zhang, H. Sun, T. De Zordo, J.C. Lacefield, B. Garcia, A.M. Jevnikar, W.P. Min, Novel small interfering RNA-containing solution protecting donor organs in heart transplantation, Circulation 120 (2009) 1099-1107 1091 p following 1107.
- [30] S.D. Larson, L.N. Jackson, L.A. Chen, P.G. Rychahou, B.M. Evers, Effectiveness of siRNA uptake in target tissues by various delivery methods, Surgery 142 (2007) 262–269.
- [31] H. Mukai, S. Kawakami, M. Hashida, Renal press-mediated transfection method for plasmid DNA and siRNA to the kidney, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 372 (2008) 383–387.
- [32] H. Mukai, S. Kawakami, Y. Kamiya, F. Ma, H. Takahashi, K. Satake, K. Terao, H. Kotera, F. Yamashita, M. Hashida, Pressure-mediated transfection of murine spleen and liver, Hum Gene Ther 20 (2009) 1157–1167.
- [33] Y. Takabatake, Y. Isaka, M. Mizui, H. Kawachi, F. Shimizu, T. Ito, M. Hori, E. Imai, Exploring RNA interference as a therapeutic strategy for renal disease, Gene Ther 12 (2005) 965–973.
- [34] Z. Xia, K. Abe, A. Furusu, M. Miyazaki, Y. Obata, Y. Tabata, T. Koji, S. Kohno, Suppression of renal tubulointerstitial fibrosis by small interfering RNA targeting heat shock protein 47, Am J Nephrol 28 (2008) 34–46.
- [35] M. Tsujie, Y. Isaka, H. Nakamura, E. Imai, M. Hori, Electroporation-mediated gene transfer that targets glomeruli, J Am Soc Nephrol 12 (2001) 949–954.
- [36] K.M. Park, A. Chen, J.V. Bonventre, Prevention of kidney ischemia/reperfusioninduced functional injury and JNK, p38, and MAPK kinase activation by remote ischemic pretreatment, J Biol Chem 276 (2001) 11870–11876.
- [37] H. Nakamura, Y. Isaka, M. Tsujie, H.D. Rupprecht, Y. Akagi, N. Ueda, E. Imai, M. Hori, Introduction of DNA enzyme for Egr-1 into tubulointerstitial fibroblasts by electroporation reduced interstitial alpha-smooth muscle actin expression and fibrosis in unilateral ureteral obstruction (UUO) rats, Gene Ther 9 (2002) 495–502.
- [38] D.E. Wesche-Soldato, C.S. Chung, J. Lomas-Neira, L.A. Doughty, S.H. Gregory, A. Ayala, In vivo delivery of caspase-8 or Fas siRNA improves the survival of septic mice, Blood 106 (2005) 2295–2301.
- [39] A. Hassan, Y. Tian, W. Zheng, H. Ji, K. Sandberg, J.G. Verbalis, Small interfering RNA-mediated functional silencing of vasopressin V2 receptors in the mouse kidney, Physiol Genomics 21 (2005) 382–388.
- [40] C.N. Landen Jr., A. Chavez-Reyes, C. Bucana, R. Schmandt, M.T. Deavers, G. Lopez-Berestein, A.K. Sood, Therapeutic EphA2 gene targeting in vivo using neutral liposomal small interfering RNA delivery, Cancer Res 65 (2005) 6910–6918.
- [41] M. Sioud, D.R. Sorensen, Cationic liposome-mediated delivery of siRNAs in adult mice, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 312 (2003) 1220–1225.
- [42] D. Jere, H.L. Jiang, R. Arote, Y.K. Kim, Y.J. Choi, M.H. Cho, T. Akaike, C.S. Cho, Degradable polyethylenimines as DNA and small interfering RNA carriers, Expert Opin Drug Deliv 6 (2009) 827–834.
- [43] A. Malek, O. Merkel, L. Fink, F. Czubayko, T. Kissel, A. Aigner, In vivo pharmacokinetics, tissue distribution and underlying mechanisms of various PEI(-PEG)/siRNA complexes, Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 236 (2009) 97–108.
- [44] H. Petersen, T. Merdan, K. Kunath, D. Fischer, T. Kissel, Poly(ethylenimine-co-Llactamide-co-succinamide): a biodegradable polyethylenimine derivative with an advantageous pH-dependent hydrolytic degradation for gene delivery, Bioconjug Chem 13 (2002) 812–821.
- [45] A. Akinc, M. Thomas, A.M. Klibanov, R. Langer, Exploring polyethyleniminemediated DNA transfection and the proton sponge hypothesis, J Gene Med 7 (2005) 657–663.
- [46] B. Liu, Exploring cell type-specific internalizing antibodies for targeted delivery of siRNA, Brief Funct Genomic Proteomic 6 (2007) 112–119.
- [47] P.V. Hauser, J.W. Pippin, C. Kaiser, R.D. Krofft, P.T. Brinkkoetter, K.L. Hudkins, D. Kerjaschki, J. Reiser, C.E. Alpers, S.J. Shankland, Novel siRNA delivery system to target podocytes in vivo, PLoS One 5 (2010) e9463.
- [48] S. Akilesh, T.B. Huber, H. Wu, G. Wang, B. Hartleben, J.B. Kopp, J.H. Miner, D.C. Roopenian, E.R. Unanue, A.S. Shaw, Podocytes use FcRn to clear IgG from the glomerular basement membrane, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105 (2008) 967–972.
- [49] C.F. Xia, R.J. Boado, W.M. Pardridge, Antibody-mediated targeting of siRNA via the human insulin receptor using avidin-biotin technology, Mol Pharm 6 (2009) 747–751.
- [50] M. Rothdiener, D. Muller, P.G. Castro, A. Scholz, M. Schwemmlein, G. Fey, O. Heidenreich, R.E. Kontermann, Targeted delivery of SiRNA to CD33-positive tumor cells with liposomal carrier systems, J Control Release 144 (2010) 251–258.

- [51] J. Gao, J. Sun, H. Li, W. Liu, Y. Zhang, B. Li, W. Qian, H. Wang, J. Chen, Y. Guo, Lyophilized HER2-specific PEGylated immunoliposomes for active siRNA gene silencing, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 2655–2664.
- [52] S.A. Asgeirsdottir, E.G. Talman, I.A. de Graaf, J.A. Kamps, S.C. Satchell, P.W. Mathieson, M.H. Ruiters, G. Molema, Targeted transfection increases siRNA uptake and gene silencing of primary endothelial cells in vitro—a quantitative study, J Control Release 141 (2010) 241–251.
- M.D. Krebs, O. Jeon, E. Alsberg, Localized and sustained delivery of silencing RNA from macroscopic biopolymer hydrogels, J Am Chem Soc 131 (2009) 9204–9206.
 J. Luten, C.F. van Nostrum, S.C. De Smedt, W.E. Hennink, Biodegradable polymers
- [54] J. Luten, C.F. van Nostrum, S.C. De Smedt, W.E. Hennink, Biodegradable polymers as non-viral carriers for plasmid DNA delivery, J Control Release 126 (2008) 97–110.
- [55] N. Nakai, T. Kishida, M. Shin-Ya, J. Imanishi, Y. Ueda, S. Kishimoto, O. Mazda, Therapeutic RNA interference of malignant melanoma by electrotransfer of small interfering RNA targeting Mitf, Gene Ther 14 (2007) 357–365.
 [56] M. Golzio, L. Mazzolini, P. Moller, M.P. Rols, J. Teissie, Inhibition of gene
- [56] M. Golzio, L. Mazzolini, P. Moller, M.P. Rols, J. Teissie, Inhibition of gene expression in mice muscle by in vivo electrically mediated siRNA delivery, Gene Ther 12 (2005) 246–251.
- [57] P. Chiarella, E. Massi, M. De Robertis, A. Sibilio, P. Parrella, V.M. Fazio, E. Signori, Electroporation of skeletal muscle induces danger signal release and antigenpresenting cell recruitment independently of DNA vaccine administration, Expert Opin Biol Ther 8 (2008) 1645–1657.
- [58] M. Kinoshita, K. Hynynen, A novel method for the intracellular delivery of siRNA using microbubble-enhanced focused ultrasound, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 335 (2005) 393–399.
- [59] Y. Negishi, Y. Endo, T. Fukuyama, R. Suzuki, T. Takizawa, D. Omata, K. Maruyama, Y. Aramaki, Delivery of siRNA into the cytoplasm by liposomal bubbles and ultrasound, J Control Release 132 (2008) 124–130.
- [60] S. Shukla, C.S. Sumaria, P.I. Pradeepkumar, Exploring chemical modifications for siRNA therapeutics: a structural and functional outlook, ChemMedChem 5 (2009) 328–349.
- [61] Q. Ge, A. Dallas, H. Ilves, J. Shorenstein, M.A. Behlke, B.H. Johnston, Effects of chemical modification on the potency, serum stability, and immunostimulatory properties of short shRNAs, RNA 16 (2010) 118–130.
- [62] H. Sands, L.J. Gorey-Feret, S.P. Ho, Y. Bao, A.J. Cocuzza, D. Chidester, F.W. Hobbs, Biodistribution and metabolism of internally 3H-labeled oligonucleotides. II. 3',5'-blocked oligonucleotides, Mol Pharmacol 47 (1995) 636–646.
- [63] R.S. Geary, Antisense oligonucleotide pharmacokinetics and metabolism, Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 5 (2009) 381–391.
- [64] S. Akhtar, M.D. Hughes, A. Khan, M. Bibby, M. Hussain, Q. Nawaz, J. Double, P. Sayyed, The delivery of antisense therapeutics, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 44 (2000) 3–21.
- [65] P.L. Iversen, B.L. Copple, H.K. Tewary, Pharmacology and toxicology of phosphorothioate oligonucleotides in the mouse, rat, monkey and man, Toxicol Lett 82–83 (1995) 425–430.
- [66] D.K. Monteith, M.J. Horner, N.A. Gillett, M. Butler, R. Geary, T. Burckin, T. Ushiro-Watanabe, A.A. Levin, Evaluation of the renal effects of an antisense phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotide in monkeys, Toxicol Pathol 27 (1999) 307–317.
- [67] J. Rappaport, B. Hanss, J.B. Kopp, T.D. Copeland, L.A. Bruggeman, T.M. Coffman, P.E. Klotman, Transport of phosphorothioate oligonucleotides in kidney: implications for molecular therapy, Kidney Int 47 (1995) 1462–1469.
- [68] M. Butler, K. Stecker, C.F. Bennett, Cellular distribution of phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides in normal rodent tissues, Lab Invest 77 (1997) 379–388.
- [69] M.K. Bijsterbosch, M. Manoharan, E.T. Rump, R.L. De Vrueh, R. van Veghel, K.L. Tivel, E.A. Biessen, C.F. Bennett, P.D. Cook, T.J. van Berkel, In vivo fate of phosphorothioate antisense oligodeoxynucleotides: predominant uptake by scavenger receptors on endothelial liver cells, Nucleic Acids Res 25 (1997) 3290–3296.
- [70] R.L. Juliano, S. Alahari, H. Yoo, R. Kole, M. Cho, Antisense pharmacodynamics: critical issues in the transport and delivery of antisense oligonucleotides, Pharm Res 16 (1999) 494–502.
- [71] P.C. de Smidt, T. Le Doan, S. de Falco, T.J. van Berkel, Association of antisense oligonucleotides with lipoproteins prolongs the plasma half-life and modifies the tissue distribution, Nucleic Acids Res 19 (1991) 4695–4700.
- [72] H.J. Anders, B. Banas, D. Schlondorff, Signaling danger: toll-like receptors and their potential roles in kidney disease, J Am Soc Nephrol 15 (2004) 854–867.
- [73] T. Kawai, S. Akira, Antiviral signaling through pattern recognition receptors, J Biochem 141 (2007) 137–145.
- [74] M. Robbins, A. Judge, I. MacLachlan, siRNA and innate immunity, Oligonucleotides 19 (2009) 89–102.
- [75] M. Robbins, A. Judge, L. Liang, K. McClintock, E. Yaworski, I. MacLachlan, 2'-Omethyl-modified RNAs act as TLR7 antagonists, Mol Ther 15 (2007) 1663–1669.
- [76] S. Hamm, E. Latz, D. Hangel, T. Muller, P. Yu, D. Golenbock, T. Sparwasser, H. Wagner, S. Bauer, Alternating 2'-O-ribose methylation is a universal approach for generating non-stimulatory siRNA by acting as TLR7 antagonist, Immunobiology, , 2009.
- [77] B.A. Kraynack, B.F. Baker, Small interfering RNAs containing full 2'-Omethylribonucleotide-modified sense strands display Argonaute2/elF2C2-dependent activity, RNA 12 (2006) 163–176.
- [78] S. Henry, K. Stecker, D. Brooks, D. Monteith, B. Conklin, C.F. Bennett, Chemically modified oligonucleotides exhibit decreased immune stimulation in mice, J Pharmacol Exp Ther 292 (2000) 468–479.
- [79] S.R. Watson, Y.F. Chang, D. O'Connell, L. Weigand, S. Ringquist, D.H. Parma, Anti-L-selectin aptamers: binding characteristics, pharmacokinetic parameters, and activity against an intravascular target in vivo, Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev 10 (2000) 63–75.

- [80] A. Jaschke, J.P. Furste, E. Nordhoff, F. Hillenkamp, D. Cech, V.A. Erdmann, Synthesis and properties of oligodeoxyribonucleotide-polyethylene glycol conjugates, Nucleic Acids Res 22 (1994) 4810–4817.
- [81] T.V. Chirila, P.E. Rakoczy, K.L. Garrett, X. Lou, I.J. Constable, The use of synthetic polymers for delivery of therapeutic antisense oligodeoxynucleotides, Biomaterials 23 (2002) 321–342.
- [82] H. Zhao, R.B. Greenwald, P. Reddy, J. Xia, P. Peng, A new platform for oligonucleotide delivery utilizing the PEG prodrug approach, Bioconjug Chem 16 (2005) 758–766.
- [83] H. Zhao, P. Peng, C. Longley, Y. Zhang, V. Borowski, M. Mehlig, P. Reddy, J. Xia, G. Borchard, J. Lipman, L. Benimetskaya, C.A. Stein, Delivery of G3139 using releasable PEG-linkers: impact on pharmacokinetic profile and anti-tumor efficacy, J Control Release 119 (2007) 143–152.
- [84] J.H. Jeong, S.H. Kim, S.W. Kim, T.G. Park, Intracellular delivery of poly(ethylene glycol) conjugated antisense oligonucleotide using cationic lipids by formation of self-assembled polyelectrolyte complex micelles, J Nanosci Nanotechnol 6 (2006) 2790–2795.
- [85] S.H. Kim, J.H. Jeong, H. Mok, S.H. Lee, S.W. Kim, T.G. Park, Folate receptor targeted delivery of polyelectrolyte complex micelles prepared from ODN-PEG-folate conjugate and cationic lipids, Biotechnol Prog 23 (2007) 232–237.
- [86] R. Kumar, S.K. Singh, A.A. Koshkin, V.K. Rajwanshi, M. Meldgaard, J. Wengel, The first analogues of LNA (locked nucleic acids): phosphorothioate-LNA and 2'thio-LNA, Bioorg Med Chem Lett 8 (1998) 2219–2222.
- [87] B. Vester, J. Wengel, LNA (locked nucleic acid): high-affinity targeting of complementary RNA and DNA, Biochemistry 43 (2004) 13233–13241.
- [88] S.Z. Glud, J.B. Bramsen, F. Dagnaes-Hansen, J. Wengel, K.A. Howard, J.R. Nyengaard, J. Kjems, Naked siLNA-mediated gene silencing of lung bronchoepithelium EGFP expression after intravenous administration, Oligonucleotides 19 (2009) 163–168.
- [89] O.R. Mook, F. Baas, M.B. de Wissel, K. Fluiter, Evaluation of locked nucleic acidmodified small interfering RNA in vitro and in vivo, Mol Cancer Ther 6 (2007) 833–843.
- [90] M. Partridge, A. Vincent, P. Matthews, J. Puma, D. Stein, J. Summerton, A simple method for delivering morpholino antisense oligos into the cytoplasm of cells, Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev 6 (1996) 169–175.
- [91] D.R. Corey, J.M. Abrams, Morpholino antisense oligonucleotides: tools for investigating vertebrate development, Genome Biol 2 (2001) REVIEWS1015.
- [92] A. Nasevicius, S.C. Ekker, Effective targeted gene 'knockdown' in zebrafish, Nat Genet 26 (2000) 216–220.
- [93] W.P. Kloosterman, A.K. Lagendijk, R.F. Ketting, J.D. Moulton, R.H. Plasterk, Targeted inhibition of miRNA maturation with morpholinos reveals a role for miR-375 in pancreatic islet development, PLoS Biol 5 (2007) e203.
- [94] M. Mende, N.A. Christophorou, A. Streit, Specific and effective gene knock-down in early chick embryos using morpholinos but not pRFPRNAi vectors, Mech Dev 125 (2008) 947–962.
- [95] N. Zhang, C. Tan, P. Cai, P. Zhang, Y. Zhao, Y. Jiang, RNA interference in mammalian cells by siRNAs modified with morpholino nucleoside analogues, Bioorg Med Chem 17 (2009) 2441–2446.
- [96] N. Puri, X. Wang, R. Varma, C. Burnett, L. Beauchamp, D.M. Batten, M. Young, V. Sule, K. Latham, T. Sendera, C. Echeverri, C. Sachse, S. Magdaleno, LNA incorporated siRNAs exhibit lower off-target effects compared to 2'-OMethoxy in cell phenotypic assays and microarray analysis, Nucleic Acids Symp Ser (2008) 25-26 (Oxf).
- [97] S. Kennedy, D. Wang, G. Ruvkun, A conserved siRNA-degrading RNase negatively regulates RNA interference in *C. elegans*, Nature 427 (2004) 645–649.
- [98] Y. Takahashi, M. Nishikawa, Y. Takakura, Nonviral vector-mediated RNA interference: its gene silencing characteristics and important factors to achieve RNAi-based gene therapy, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 61 (2009) 760–766.
- [99] A. Nakamura, A. Imaizumi, Y. Yanagawa, T. Kohsaka, E.J. Johns, beta(2)-Adrenoceptor activation attenuates endotoxin-induced acute renal failure, J Am Soc Nephrol 15 (2004) 316–325.
- [100] P.A. Ortiz, N.J. Hong, C.F. Plato, M. Varela, J.L. Garvin, An in vivo method for adenovirus-mediated transduction of thick ascending limbs, Kidney Int 63 (2003) 1141–1149.
- [101] S.S. Seregin, A. Amalfitano, Overcoming pre-existing adenovirus immunity by genetic engineering of adenovirus-based vectors, Expert Opin Biol Ther 9 (2009) 1521–1531.
- [102] D. Grimm, M.A. Kay, RNAi and gene therapy: a mutual attraction, Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program (2007) 473–481.
- [103] R.J. Samulski, X. Zhu, X. Xiao, J.D. Brook, D.E. Housman, N. Epstein, L.A. Hunter, Targeted integration of adeno-associated virus (AAV) into human chromosome 19, EMBO J 10 (1991) 3941–3950.
- [104] N. Bessis, F.J. GarciaCozar, M.C. Boissier, Immune responses to gene therapy vectors: influence on vector function and effector mechanisms, Gene Ther 11 (Suppl 1) (2004) S10–S17.
- [105] M. Gruchala, S. Bhardwaj, K. Pajusola, H. Roy, T.T. Rissanen, I. Kokina, I. Kholova, J. E. Markkanen, J. Rutanen, T. Heikura, K. Alitalo, H. Bueler, S. Yla-Herttuala, Gene transfer into rabbit arteries with adeno-associated virus and adenovirus vectors, J Gene Med 6 (2004) 545–554.
- [106] P.O. Enger, F. Thorsen, P.E. Lonning, R. Bjerkvig, F. Hoover, Adeno-associated viral vectors penetrate human solid tumor tissue in vivo more effectively than adenoviral vectors, Hum Gene Ther 13 (2002) 1115–1125.
- [107] M.S. Lipkowitz, B. Hanss, N. Tulchin, P.D. Wilson, J.C. Langer, M.D. Ross, G.J. Kurtzman, P.E. Klotman, M.E. Klotman, Transduction of renal cells in vitro and in vivo by adeno-associated virus gene therapy vectors, J Am Soc Nephrol 10 (1999) 1908–1915.

- [108] K. Ito, J. Chen, J.J. Khodadadian, E.D. Vaughan Jr., M. Lipkowitz, D.P. Poppas, D. Felsen, Adeno-associated viral vector transduction of green fluorescent protein in kidney: effect of unilateral ureteric obstruction, BIU Int 101 (2008) 376–381.
- [109] X. Wang, L. Skelley, R. Cade, Z. Sun, AAV delivery of mineralocorticoid receptor shRNA prevents progression of cold-induced hypertension and attenuates renal damage, Gene Ther 13 (2006) 1097–1103.
- [110] G.L. Gusella, E. Fedorova, D. Marras, P.E. Klotman, M.E. Klotman, In vivo gene transfer to kidney by lentiviral vector, Kidney Int 61 (2002) S32–S36.
- [111] M. Kim, S.W. Chen, S.W. Park, V.D. D'Agati, J. Yang, H.T. Lee, Kidney-specific reconstitution of the A1 adenosine receptor in A1 adenosine receptor knockout mice reduces renal ischemia-reperfusion injury, Kidney Int 75 (2009) 809–823.
- [112] Z. Shou, H. Xiao, Y. Xu, Y. Wang, Y. Yang, H. Jiang, J. Chen, K. Yamada, K. Miyamoto, SHARP-2 gene silencing by lentiviral-based short hairpin RNA interference prolonged rat kidney transplant recipients' survival time, J Int Med Res 37 (2009) 766–778.
- [113] N. Manjunath, H. Wu, S. Subramanya, P. Shankar, Lentiviral delivery of short hairpin RNAs, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 61 (2009) 732–745.
- [114] R.A. Matthijsen, D. Huugen, N.T. Hoebers, B. de Vries, C.J. Peutz-Kootstra, Y. Aratani, M.R. Daha, J.W. Tervaert, W.A. Buurman, P. Heeringa, Myeloperoxidase is critically involved in the induction of organ damage after renal ischemia reperfusion, Am J Pathol 171 (2007) 1743–1752.
- [115] C. Du, J. Jiang, Q. Guan, Z. Yin, M. Masterson, A. Parbtani, R. Zhong, A.M. Jevnikar, Renal tubular epithelial cell self-injury through Fas/Fas ligand interaction promotes renal allograft injury, Am J Transplant 4 (2004) 1583–1594.
- [116] C. Guijarro, J. Egido, Transcription factor-kappa B (NF-kappa B) and renal disease, Kidney Int 59 (2001) 415–424.
- [117] I.H. Vos, R. Govers, H.J. Grone, L. Kleij, M. Schurink, R.A. De Weger, R. Goldschmeding, T.J. Rabelink, NFkappaB decoy oligodeoxynucleotides reduce monocyte infiltration in renal allografts, FASEB J 14 (2000) 815–822.
- [118] B. de Vries, J. Kohl, W.K. Leclercq, T.G. Wolfs, A.A. van Bijnen, P. Heeringa, W.A. Buurman, Complement factor C5a mediates renal ischemia-reperfusion injury independent from neutrophils, J Immunol 170 (2003) 3883–3889.
- [119] X. Zheng, X. Zhang, B. Feng, H. Sun, M. Suzuki, T. Ichim, N. Kubo, A. Wong, L.R. Min, M.E. Budohn, B. Garcia, A.M. Jevnikar, W.P. Min, Gene silencing of complement C5a receptor using siRNA for preventing ischemia/reperfusion injury, Am J Pathol 173 (2008) 973–980.
- [120] B.A. Molitoris, P.C. Dagher, R.M. Sandoval, S.B. Campos, H. Ashush, E. Fridman, A. Brafman, A. Faerman, S.J. Atkinson, J.D. Thompson, H. Kalinski, R. Skaliter, S. Erlich, E. Feinstein, siRNA targeted to p53 attenuates ischemic and cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury, J Am Soc Nephrol 20 (2009) 1754–1764.
- [121] X. Zheng, B. Feng, G. Chen, X. Zhang, M. Li, H. Sun, W. Liu, C. Vladau, R. Liu, A.M. Jevnikar, B. Garcia, R. Zhong, W.P. Min, Preventing renal ischemia-reperfusion injury using small interfering RNA by targeting complement 3 gene, Am J Transplant 6 (2006) 2099–2108.
- [122] X. Zheng, X. Zhang, H. Sun, B. Feng, M. Li, G. Chen, C. Vladau, D. Chen, M. Suzuki, L. Min, W. Liu, R. Zhong, B. Garcia, A. Jevnikar, W.P. Min, Protection of renal ischemia injury using combination gene silencing of complement 3 and caspase 3 genes, Transplantation 82 (2006) 1781–1786.
- [123] C. Du, S. Wang, H. Diao, Q. Guan, R. Zhong, A.M. Jevnikar, Increasing resistance of tubular epithelial cells to apoptosis by shRNA therapy ameliorates renal ischemia-reperfusion injury, Am J Transplant 6 (2006) 2256–2267.
- [124] A.A. Eddy, Molecular basis of renal fibrosis, Pediatr Nephrol 15 (2000) 290-301.

- [125] J.R. Chapman, P.J. O'Connell, B.J. Nankivell, Chronic renal allograft dysfunction, J Am Soc Nephrol 16 (2005) 3015–3026.
- [126] T. Kushibiki, N. Nagata-Nakajima, M. Sugai, A. Shimizu, Y. Tabata, Delivery of plasmid DNA expressing small interference RNA for TGF-beta type II receptor by cationized gelatin to prevent interstitial renal fibrosis, J Control Release 105 (2005) 318–331.
- [127] T. Kushibiki, N. Nagata-Nakajima, M. Sugai, A. Shimizu, Y. Tabata, Enhanced antifibrotic activity of plasmid DNA expressing small interference RNA for TGF-beta type II receptor for a mouse model of obstructive nephropathy by cationized gelatin prepared from different amine compounds, J Control Release 110 (2006) 610–617.
- [128] G.H. Luo, Y.P. Lu, J. Song, L. Yang, Y.J. Shi, Y.P. Li, Inhibition of connective tissue growth factor by small interfering RNA prevents renal fibrosis in rats undergoing chronic allograft nephropathy, Transplant Proc 40 (2008) 2365–2369.
- [129] P.L. Cohen, R.A. Eisenberg, Lpr and gld: single gene models of systemic autoimmunity and lymphoproliferative disease, Annu Rev Immunol 9 (1991) 243–269.
- [130] L. Bao, J. Zhou, V.M. Holers, R.J. Quigg, Excessive matrix accumulation in the kidneys of MRL/lpr lupus mice is dependent on complement activation, J Am Soc Nephrol 14 (2003) 2516–2525.
- [131] S.E. Winograd-Katz, S. Itzkovitz, Z. Kam, B. Geiger, Multiparametric analysis of focal adhesion formation by RNAi-mediated gene knockdown, J Cell Biol 186 (2009) 423–436.
- [132] D.O. Azorsa, R.H. Robeson, D. Frost, B. Meec hoovet, G.R. Brautigam, C. Dickey, C. Beaudry, G.D. Basu, D.R. Holz, J.A. Hernandez, K.M. Bisanz, L. Gwinn, A. Grover, J. Rogers, E.M. Reiman, M. Hutton, D.A. Stephan, S. Mousses, T. Dunckley, High-content siRNA screening of the kinome identifies kinases involved in Alzheimer's disease-related tau hyperphosphorylation, BMC Genomics 11 (2010) 25.
- [133] G.R. Hoffman, N.J. Moerke, M. Hsia, C.E. Shamu, J. Blenis, A high-throughput, cellbased screening method for siRNA and small molecule inhibitors of mTORC1 signaling using the in cell Western technique, Assay Drug Dev Technol 8 (2010) 186–199.
- [134] E. Krausz, High-content siRNA screening, Mol Biosyst 3 (2007) 232-240.
- [135] C. Antczak, T. Takagi, C.N. Ramirez, C. Radu, H. Djaballah, Live-cell imaging of caspase activation for high-content screening, J Biomol Screen 14 (2009) 956–969.
- [136] J.C. Puigvert, H. de Bont, B. van de Water, E.H. Danen, High-throughput live cell imaging of apoptosis, Curr Protoc Cell Biol, Chapter 18 (2010) 11–13 Unit 18 10.
- [137] A. Masszi, L. Fan, L. Rosivall, C.A. McCulloch, O.D. Rotstein, I. Mucsi, A. Kapus, Integrity of cell-cell contacts is a critical regulator of TGF-beta 1-induced epithelial-to-myofibroblast transition: role for beta-catenin, Am J Pathol 165 (2004) 1955–1967.
- [138] Q. Hu, M. Noor, Y.F. Wong, P.J. Hylands, M.S. Simmonds, Q. Xu, D. Jiang, B.M. Hendry, In vitro anti-fibrotic activities of herbal compounds and herbs, Nephrol Dial Transplant 24 (2009) 3033–3041.
- [139] R.O. Stuart, E.J. Barros, E. Ribeiro, S.K. Nigam, Epithelial tubulogenesis through branching morphogenesis: relevance to collecting system development, J Am Soc Nephrol 6 (1995) 1151–1159.
- [140] A. Karihaloo, C. Nickel, L.G. Cantley, Signals which build a tubule, Nephron Exp Nephrol 100 (2005) e40–e45.
- [141] Y. Takabatake, Y. Isaka, E. Imai, Renal artery injection for delivery of biological materials to the glomerulus, Nephrology (Carlton) 13 (2008) 23–26.